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FOREWORD


BY J.W. RINZLER


Once upon a time, while doing research in the Lucasfilm Image Archives, I came across a mysterious photograph. At first I didn’t know who the five people in it were, but there was an unmistakable aura about the group. Sometimes an energy is present when a photo is taken that can make itself felt many years later, even a century beyond its time. In this case it was about thirty years later and the group soon revealed itself to be the English art department core of the first Star Wars film: production designer John Barry, art directors Norman Reynolds and Les Dilley, construction supervisor Bill Welch—and one long-haired twenty-something, who looked like he might be a visiting rock star: Roger Christian, set dresser and provocateur.


For it was Roger, in league with John Barry, who hit upon the idea of a used universe.


This greasy, worn out world became, in late 1975, the ingenious answer to multiple questions at the time. The big quandary had been, How on earth would the art department build the multi-set visionary worlds George Lucas had dreamt up, given their tiny budget? Linked to that question was another: How would they differentiate Star Wars from its low-rent trashy sci-ficousins? (2001 excepted, but that was an art film.)


To make things that much harder, just before principal photography was to begin, Twentieth Century Fox, their very reluctant studio backer, had slashed their budget from $8.2 to $7.5 million, ten percent of which reduction came directly out of the art department’s coffers. Christian’s work-around brainstorm, based on years of experience under several genial mentors, was to source a cheap supply of odd materials, consisting of pre-fabricated realistic shapes, forms, and ideas; junk, that is. Lots and lots of junk: airplane junk, washing-machine junk, plumbing junk. He would also sell Lucas on the idea of real, but enhanced, weapons to stand in for the script’s blasters and lightsabers.


I’ve written about some of this in The Making of Star Wars; it was while doing research for that book that I found said photo, in an old binder of black-and-white film. That book was the best job I could do as an outsider, decades after the fact (though relying on contemporary interviews). So when Roger told me he was writing his own memoirs, and as I came to appreciate his phenomenal memory for both details and the big picture, I was thrilled. His account would be—and now is—the story of someone who was right there: meeting with George Lucas in Mexico early in preproduction; standing with him as the studio dithered, and then, while prepping the sets, watching Lucas’s back in Tunisia and at Elstree Studios. His account of the enormous uphill battles and mind-bending challenges of the shoot are unrivaled.


Afterward Lucas rewarded Christian’s ingenuity and loyalty with matched loyalty, helping him become a director, in turn, by backing his live-action short Black Angel. That short has recently been revived (a fascinating story) and its influence acclaimed. Roger’s account of his low-budget independent filmmaking, as he cobbled together talent and resources to make Black Angel a reality, should be required reading for film students.


Roger then returned Lucas’s backing, jumping in when needed as second-unit director on Return of the Jedi and The Phantom Menace. In later conversations Lucas would refer to Christian, Barry, and a paltry few others as those who had saved his quirky little space fantasy from disaster, helping it become the undreamt-of phenomenon it is today (though they did think that it would be successful even at the time).


Yet Roger’s is more than a book about Star Wars. It is unlike any other film book that I’ve read in that it presents, unvarnished, the raw emotional world of the craftspeople and artists, the producers, directors, and actors, who often toil in impossible conditions under great duress—long hours, life-threatening illness, and internal foes—because they so love what they are doing.


This is never more evident than in Roger’s further adventures during the making of another classic film, the horrifying and beautiful Alien, an art-directing job almost immediately after Star Wars, on a film that would have almost as great an impact on cinema. The vicissitudes he colorfully describes feel real; his portraits of his contemporaries are insightful and compassionate (although a few receive naught but righteous wrath); and his descriptions of London life during one of its creative peaks, during the 1960s, 70s, and early 80s, is a lot of fun, as he rubs shoulders with the Rolling Stones and other luminaries (the book even has a side of Monty Python’s Life of Brian).


So if you want to find out how a wily artist matched wits with the likes of George Lucas and Ridley Scott, how integral art departments functioned during a British heyday of film creation on the first Star Wars and Alien, how an Academy Award–winning director crafted an enigmatic tale from nothing, and how death was defied in devotional service to the silver screen, then, by all means, read on…


J. W. RINZLER




AUTHOR’S NOTE


When I was having my first interview for a job in the film industry as tea boy to the art department on Oliver!, production designer John Box gave me this advice:




“You are alone in the desert, standing next to a silver airplane with a bottle of green ink in your pocket. A cloud of dust approaches nearer and nearer as the director and producer arrive. The director looks at the plane and says, ‘Great, this will work, can you have it red by tomorrow morning?’ You either do it or talk your way out of it there and then. That’s the film industry.”





These wise words have served as my mantra throughout a long career and in no small way came to full force when I was asked to set decorate Star Wars on a budget that most people would have said, no; it cannot be done.




PREFACE


The title for this book came from my coming up with the idea to make all the interiors of the sets and props on Star Wars from scrap metal and old airplane parts, and being rewarded with an Academy Award for it. I signed on to set-decorate Star Wars in August of 1975 having met George Lucas in Mexico earlier that year while working on Lucky Lady. Being asked to come up with props, guns, and robots, new inventions in George’s script like a lightsaber, Luke’s speeder and a diminutive robot called R2-D2 and the golden C-3PO took a huge leap of faith and confidence. The initial budget at that time was four million dollars and my set-dressing budget a tiny two hundred thousand.


Even in those times this was hardly enough for John Barry, Les Dilley, and me to create this world imagined and beautifully illustrated in Ralph McQuarrie’s paintings. My first conversation with George Lucas in Mexico revolved around a common language, that science-fiction films had portrayed unrealistic sets and props that were all new and plastic-looking. We had a common goal—to make a spaceship that looked oily and greasy, and held together like a very used second-hand car. Thus the Millennium Falcon, looking like a cross between an old submarine and a used spaceship, came about, a philosophy extending to every detail, including the props and guns and all dressing.


My path to making Star Wars and my experiences made it possible to reach far outside the conventional way I was brought up, and prepared me to go out on a limb and suggest to George Lucas new ways to dress the sets, like buying old airplane scrap and breaking it down and using it to create the Falcon’s interiors. My pet peeve was sci-fi guns that looked and sounded like toys, so I suggested using real guns and adapting their look for Star Wars. My luck was having a director who was an independent filmmaker who, having made a very low budget science-fiction film, THX 1138, did not flinch when I presented untried solutions to the then insurmountable problem of making all the dressings and props.


Alien was exactly the same, and under director Ridley Scott I was able to take further my ambition to make a spaceship that looked like we had rented an old and used space truck.


This book in some ways illustrates how my independent thinking enabled me to be a part of Star Wars: A New Hope, arguably the best-known and most successful film of all time, an enduring classic that deserves its place amongst humanity’s great myths and legends, and Alien, which has also become a cinema classic, the chestburster scene being recognized as one of the seminal moments of modern cinema.


I think John Barry’s speech on accepting the Academy Awards for Star Wars says it all.


* * *


“We are very pleased to accept this beautiful award on behalf of all our friends and compatriots who worked so hard to make the sets of Star Wars a success. And there’s one man whose name should be engraved on this above everybody else and whose name should be on every frame of Star Wars, and that’s George Lucas. Thank you, George.”




CINEMA ALCHEMY


LUCKY LADY—THE ROAD TO STAR WARS


Ring… ring… ring…


* * *


The ringing of the phone cut through my apartment. I was watching a tennis match at Wimbledon on the television and wondering, as were the players, if it was going to rain again or even snow as predicted by those illustrious television weathermen. The old fishermen’s way to predict the weather was to hang a bunch of seaweed outside the door and simply feel it with their fingers and smell it. They would tell you, in their broad Devon or Cornish accent, exactly what the weather would be and they were almost one hundred per cent accurate.


This serves well as a metaphor for my way of working as a set decorator, art director, and a director. I still use the lowest tech way possible on the shooting floor, which saves money and time, and gives a reality to the images. My effects supervisors all know that I used to minimise motion control from my main unit shoots, for ‘watching paint dry’ is the correct metaphor for that agonizingly slow process. This came to be the most valuable skill when I was offered Star Wars with a tiny budget at the time to make such a cinematic epic.


“Hello, hello, hello?” The voice at the end of the phone was insistent. “Is Roger Christian there? I’ve been trying to find him.”


“Yes, it’s me. Who is this?”


“It’s Graham Henderson, from Twentieth Century Fox. I’ve had a call from the production designer, John Barry. He’s working on a film called Lucky Lady in Mexico. Les Dilley’s out there with him. They need another person in the art department urgently, and suggested I call you to see if you are available.”


“When would they need me?”


“Can you get on a plane immediately to Mexico?”


“Yes, I could. Where to, and what for?”


“You’ll never have heard of this place; it’s a small city on the west coast of Mexico called Guaymas.”


“Guaymas, funnily enough I have been there. It’s stunningly beautiful; I remember the pelicans diving in the bay.” I had taken a trip around America with an actor friend of mine, Chris Plume, and we had taken a Mexican bus from San Diego to Guaymas and stayed three nights there in a shack on the beach.


This offer came after a long history of working experience and connections, but it was clearly the moment that the journey to Star Wars began.


I read the script of Lucky Lady on the plane flying across the Atlantic. It was written by Gloria Katz and Willard Huyck, a married team, and it was one of the best scripts I had read. A fast-paced and original drama set around the illegal rum running that took place between Mexico and America during prohibition, the movie centered on a triangle of characters living in Mexico. A ménage à trois composed of a nightclub singer played by Liza Minnelli and two wonderful characters vying for her attention but glued together as best friends played by Gene Hackman and Burt Reynolds. They were huge box office stars at the time, so it was a tantalizing mix.


The movie was an epic production financed by Twentieth Century Fox that was growing in size weekly under director Stanley Donen. They needed another assistant art director to work as set decorator to help the tiny British art department working under production designer John Barry. If I had been asked to make John Barry’s tea I would have happily gone. He had designed Stanley Kubrick’s A Clockwork Orange and was one of the most gifted designers working. Les Dilley, my long-time art-directing partner, was already there and had recommended me to John for this; Norman Reynolds was the other art director. They comprised the entire art department. When one considers this was a period film set in the twenties and involved over fifty ships fighting battles on the ocean between the rum runners and the coast guards, as well as being a movie that required the building of a plethora of sets, it was a very small department to handle it all. Now that the film was running way over schedule and budget, they needed the extra help.


Filming with boats is worse than working with animals and robots! It was a huge endeavor. Anything to do with boats is truly one of the worst situations for any director. Controlling them is so difficult, especially on the ocean, as they constantly move and change position with the tidal movement, so it’s really hard just to get them all in place for a shot. If a boat shifts position, it takes ages to move it back to the right spot and by then all the others have shifted. Then, of course, there is the unpredictable weather as well. Fifty boats, one of them a large navy destroyer with weapons and guns fighting huge sea battles as the coast guards tried to apprehend the rum runners, made it all horrendous. And this was only one part of the movie…


The problem with the production running way over schedule, aside from the budget swelling, was twofold: the worst was the heat as it escalated towards mid summer; the second was that the crew was needed to move south to Mexico City to complete the shoot, so a second crew would be left in Guaymas to carry on filming the sea battles. The stars had a contracted number of weeks and going over schedule meant paying huge overages.


I met John Barry and Norman Reynolds and went over what I had to do. John had designed and created wonderful sets in the studios and had also built into existing buildings on location to give them an authenticity. He took me to the nightclub set, which was evocative of the Mexican clubs of the thirties full of color and glitter. They had already filmed part of the sequence here, so it was dressed and lit.


Liza’s character was a torch singer, a classic diva, and the set created a perfect atmosphere for her song performance with a wrought-iron staircase dominating the main room for her to descend as she sang.


John quickly fathomed out where I would be most useful and put me in charge of dressing the old rum factories, a salt factory, and a houseboat that was a hippy traveler’s boat. This was written in the script as being covered in junk and flowers and plants, and no one knew what to do with it. It played a prominent role in the film, however, so it was important that it looked right.


I needed junk and scrap to dress the sets that were being constructed by our construction manager Bill Welch and his team to make them look authentic, particularly the houseboat. We were in a country where roughly half of the population of Guaymas lived in shanty towns constructed from cardboard boxes, soft drink cans, anything that could be found and used. These shanty towns spread out around Guaymas on every available hillside. Guaymas itself was a prosperous fishing town; the bay was absolutely packed with every variety of fish: the famous red jumbo prawns, sardines, and blue marlin.


Anything that could be caught and eaten was there in huge numbers. The labor for the canning factories, fishing boats, and the luxury hotels dotting the coastline came mainly from the shanty towns. Scrap was therefore just not available; anything of any use whatsoever was recycled and used again.


Somehow through all this we bought enough junk and scrap to dress the sets. I managed to create a wonderful old boat covered in plants, furniture, old bicycles, etc. It was covered from bow to stern in a wonderland of junk that gave it a really strong hippy character. This experience was still fresh in my mind not long afterward when another film came along…


STAR WARS: HOW IT BEGAN


Meeting George Lucas and Gary Kurtz


One really interesting old set I had to get finished and dressed was a salt factory, a beautiful old period set with peeling paint and faded walls. We had to cover all the ground around it with salt where the bags would have been stacked and loaded onto cargo ships. It was built near the ocean so that trucks could transport the sacks of salt for delivery.


That evening at dinner John told us that a producer and director were flying in to meet us the next day and look at the sets. George Lucas and Gary Kurtz were friends of Gloria Katz and Willard Huyck, who had recommended us for a science-fiction film the director was making. He was looking for the same ‘used’ style of sets and Twentieth Century Fox had told George Lucas that he could make the film if he made it in the UK for the budget they had allocated. We had become great friends with the Huycks; they were married but kept separate professional writing credits. Gloria and Willard had written the first draft of Radioland Murders for George, and had polished and rewritten dialogue for George on the last draft of Star Wars. They loved John Barry, not only for his precocious talent as a designer but also for his intelligence and humor.


Next morning I was out in the midday heat shoveling white salt with the prop-dressing gang and our local Mexican crew. It was supposed to be a run-down factory in the script and to stand indistinguishable from a real building that had been there for a good hundred years. We had a sign painted across the wooden front saying salt factory in faded and peeling letters. I’d had the painters age down the wooden boarding using a technique that John Box had taught me when I started my career on Oliver. They used a clear glaze and added in paint colors like old greens that gave it a patina that usually comes only after years of weathering. Then with blowtorches I had them burn the lettering and paint back, as if years of intense heat had dried and cracked it. I dressed suitable carts and an old car around the front to add character. We had a wrecked boat as well, so the set looked absolutely natural and weathered, as if it had been there for years.


The set was almost finished and ready for shooting. We were just adding the final touches when a car arrived and pulled to a stop. Two figures got out looking more like film students than a Hollywood director and producer. George Lucas was in his now familiar plaid shirt, jeans, and sneakers that was his daily wear and still is, and Gary Kurtz in a similar look, I think, with his hat to ward off the relentless sun. George and Gary came across and introduced themselves to me.


George looked at the set and was really surprised to find it was not an old factory but a specially built film set. I took him round the back and showed him what we had built, as behind the ancient façade was nothing but timber scaffolding. George asked a lot about the aging techniques, the salt and the dressings I had carefully placed around. He talked briefly about a science-fiction movie he was about to start and wanted the same patina look and detailing, everything natural and used, not science-fiction designed. We talked about some of my history and working with John Barry. George even helped me with dressing the salt and got stuck in, spreading some around with a shovel as I explained how I saw science-fiction crafts and worlds: old oily ships, distressed from use, somewhat like a mix between a submarine and a bomber cockpit. I disliked the overly designed plastic worlds prevalent in films of that genre, with the toy-like weapons and gray uniform-style costumes based on communist-era dress that they always seemed to have. It all looked totally unnatural to me and unbelievable. George agreed. His vision, he told me, was more of a dusty Western combined with 2001. I understood immediately.


They went on to meet with Geoffrey Unsworth and I was invited to catch up later with him and Gary at dinner.


That night under the stars in the courtyard of the hotel, a little cooler after the sun had gone down but still incredibly hot, George talked to me and John about his movie at length and his aspirations. George had met and liked Geoffrey, and respected his immense talent. Among many legendary movies he had photographed were 2001 and Cabaret. He was a natural choice. Lucky Lady was looking a lot like a dusty Western filmed on location. Moreover, John, Gloria, and Willard explained that Geoffrey was a wonderful and talented director of photography, and an enormous help to his directors.


George and Gary left the next day. I found out later, when we were in Los Angeles, that George had hired us for Star Wars, or The Journal of the Whills as it was called then. I was the third person hired. First was John Barry as production designer, and then Geoffrey Unsworth as director of photography, and third was me as the set decorator (noted in this order in the official book, The Making of Star Wars). Fourth was Les Dilley, but, being standby on the shooting floor, he had not managed to meet George on that trip. John’s intelligence, his passion for film, and his understanding of what George was looking for visually, had given George the confidence that we could be trusted to create his vision for this space epic.


The heat during the day was becoming intolerable as the movie ran more and more over schedule. It was so intense even the Mexicans were complaining and saying we were crazy to be working such long hours in this heat without the afternoon siesta they were accustomed to. Working at sea most days on the boats, there was nowhere to hide from the fierce sun. Umbrellas did their best to keep the rays off the cameras and crew, but working at a high pace meant ignoring the conditions and getting on with it.


Many of the crew got sick; it was inevitable. We did what we could to try to keep safe, but in the end some form of bacteria will get you. British crews tend to go on working and grin and bear it, unless it’s really bad. I was no exception and carried on despite some form of typhoid infection I had obviously contracted. I remember Rudy, the wonderful Mexican assistant assigned to me with a face deeply lined with a life of experience, saying to me one day in late June, that we should not be working in this heat, but I didn’t feel I had a choice.


I was carrying on, despite being as sick as a dog. My weight was down to under nine stone. My jeans were falling off me, but being tanned from the relentless sun, the glow of my skin after months in it did not betray how ill I was. The end of the shoot was in sight and I did not want to give up. All I was passing now from my many visits to the Mexican-style toilets was a small amount of thin green liquid. That only happens when the kidneys and liver are near to giving up.


The next morning I awoke feeling really exhausted. I walked out of the house into that wall of heat and felt instantly nauseous and weak. I got into the car and turned on the air full blast to try to cool down, but it was the same futile effort as every other day. I drove to the docks where all the boats were docked every night. I had the local boatman take me in the small motor launch to the boat where the camera crew was setting up for the day’s filming. When we arrived I realized as I climbed up the steps to get on board that I had zero energy left. I could barely make it up the ladder to the deck. I felt as if I was about to pass out. I had no liquid with me, and was gasping with thirst. I was so weak I finally succumbed to the realization that I could not carry on any more without seeking help. I talked to the third assistant director and made sure the crew didn’t need anything urgently that Les and the standby prop man couldn’t deal with, climbed back down the ladder and told the launch driver to take me back to the mainland jetty. We landed and I staggered my way into the shack that was an imitation of a local shop. They had no water; the only liquid available was a can of terrible vegetable juice and, being desperate, I took it and drank it. It made me more nauseous and thirsty. Somehow I drove home feeling quite delirious. Arriving at our house I grabbed some water, drank copiously and, feeling really faint, collapsed on my bed.


Next thing I knew there were scorpions climbing all over the ceiling and the walls. I saw Les standing over me, talking to me, trying to make sense of what I was saying. I was telling him to remove the scorpions and kill them all, and could not understand why he kept asking me what I wanted. Why couldn’t he see them? Les told me later that at that moment he thought to himself, this is bad! He explained he was taking me in to the local hospital. It was more like a small clinic and had only about six beds.


I remember trying to answer questions that the doctor asked as he examined me and took blood samples. He took my blood pressure and looked at me seriously, as if the end was nigh! Suddenly I was whisked into a room at the back, which was the equivalent of a ward. I think they moved the patient out who was in there before me, as the bed was still bloodstained. But I really couldn’t care by this time where I was or what condition the room was in; I felt like I was about to die. I had relinquished all control over my situation.


I was lying down pondering my fate, passing in and out of consciousness, when a nurse came to see me. I had noticed on the wall next to the bed was a poster of Scotland, which I stared at in slight bewilderment as it seemed so incongruous in this Mexican hospital. I stared at it whilst drip feeds were attached to my arm and needles plunged into various body parts, including my backside. No one spoke a word of English, so I couldn’t ask any questions or get any information. I looked again at the poster; it was a stunning vista of the lochs in autumnal colors.


The nurse hooked up an IV drip and then, taking my arm, searched for a suitable vein to attach it to. She pushed the needle into me, hooked up the plastic line and left. My reverie was broken when the door opened and the nurse came back holding an enormous syringe. She silently proceeded to stick the needle into my artery, a really painful procedure. She looked down at me, talking in Spanish, trying to get me to comprehend her flood of unintelligible words. I could speak basic words, count, order food and find my way to the bathroom, but this stream of obvious questions was unfathomable to me. She kept pointing to the syringe full of thick white liquid she was forcing into my tiny vein. I looked confused and could not respond, so she continued to inject. The pain was excruciating. It felt like she was ramming concrete into my arteries. I was grimacing, while she kept taking my silence as a sign that all was fine. So I just stared at the poster and tried to visualize away the pain. Tough one that, though, when it feels like enough concrete to lay the foundations of a house is being pumped into an artery that is way too small to take the thick sludge. She just kept slowly but persistently pumping it into me, and my eyes were watering in pain.


Finally, after an age, it was over. She had had to do it really slowly for obvious reasons. She tapped my arm, pulled out the needle, re-attached the drip feed, and left.


It was then that I noticed the air bubble. It was trapped in the clear plastic tube carrying whatever liquid was being added to my blood by transfusion. It was near the bottle of liquid hanging on the metal arm and making its way slowly down towards my vein. Now I don’t know about you, but I have always lived with the belief that if an air bubble enters the bloodstream— that’s it, curtains!


I was feeling so ill and weak at this time, the fever was clouding my thoughts somewhat, and I started to think that maybe this was an omen. The mind goes into a different state when the body is closing down and is near the point when the vital organs lose enough chi or fire to keep functioning. I must have been very near that point because it didn’t seem such a bad option. It was all so surreal. I watched that bubble as it silently made its way down the transparent tube. In my confused mind was the thought that when that bubble entered my vein, all this feeling of nausea and weakness would finally be over.


The bubble inched its way down the tube towards my arm at a snail’s pace. Should I call for help or let destiny decide? I listened but there was no sound of nurses. I called out once but there was silence and the humming of the air conditioning. I was alone. This tiny innocuous bubble got nearer and nearer to the needle stuck in my arm where the tube entered. Everything in the universe came down to this moment. Nothing else had any consequence whatsoever. I do remember my past flashing before my eyes, thinking about moments that came back to me like fragments in time.


I looked again at the poster of the loch in Scotland, where I later filmed Black Angel. Something deeply connected there, somewhere at the bottom of the well of my subconscious, where the heart of spirituality lies. Looking at that picture and thinking of Scotland somehow made a connection to an inner knowledge. A resolve to live kicked back in with a force that surprised me. I made a vow to myself that dying here in Mexico on this movie was not an option—I had too much to live for. I became determined to fight this and get well.


The bubble had now reached about three inches from my arm. Suddenly the door opened, and the nurse walked in. That brought my instinct for life into full adrenal-punching force. I sat up and pointed to the bubble, exclaiming loudly in English, “LOOK!” The nurse did indeed look, laughed, and turned the valve on the drip feed line. The bubble shot like a Ferrari straight into my arm.


I stared wide-eyed and waited for my heart to explode. She was laughing at me and explaining something in Spanish. Nothing happened. My heart stayed beating, very slowly because of my weakness, but soundly beating, so I just lay back and tried to sleep. Apparently it was not my time to go, and a peace descended over me.


Les came to visit the next day with our Mexican interpreter. He explained that the doctor had told him I was very sick and that I’d be there a few days. Les and I had planned to go back to Los Angeles on the way home once shooting was over. We could still do that, depending on my recovery time. Les had called John Barry in Mexico City, who was very concerned and was monitoring the situation. I got the nurse in and asked the translator to ask about the injections. What she had been trying to tell me was if the pain was too much, to say so, and she’d stop and slow down. Ah, the bonus of being able to speak several languages!


They explained that it was a serious infection that could have affected my liver and kidneys, but they thought that because my system was strong, once they had killed the infection I’d recover one hundred percent. I was also chronically dehydrated from the illness, and they were pumping vitamins into me. The shoot was winding down fast so I wasn’t missing much. Les had only a few days left to supervise.


I was alone the next day when a production assistant came to see me. He had a proposal from the film’s line producer, Arthur Carroll, to put me on the next plane to London, without enquiring as to my medical condition and if I was able to fly over fourteen hours. For that offer he needed me to sign a contract that stated that they had no more responsibility for me. He had presumed that the carrot of putting me on the plane home was the thing I most wanted in the world and that I would just say yes.


Of course I would be well looked after in hospital in Britain, but Carroll had not bothered to come to see me, or inquired how I could travel. The doctors thought that a fourteen- to sixteen-hour plane ride in my condition could have dire consequences.


Even in my weakened condition I refused to sign anything. I knew instinctively that despite this being such a poor facility, it’s always best to get treated locally when it’s an infection in the stomach or intestines, as they generally know what to do faster than a hospital in London would.


Maybe Carroll presumed that we all felt like him and were desperate to get home to the green hills of safe old Blighty. John Barry had found out the situation and really torn a strip out of Carroll. John had realized very fast what had happened. When someone is sick they are automatically covered under a movie’s insurance policies. John had told them that I should stay in the Mexican hospital until they said I was able to travel and then be put in a hospital in Los Angeles, where we were ticketed home from anyway, to get full clearance before being allowed to go on. John had realized they didn’t want to bother filling out all the forms at such a late stage of the production.


I was finally told I could leave the hospital and would be sent to Los Angeles, to a hospital in Santa Monica where I would be cleared. I had not been able to enjoy the last days and say goodbye to all the friends I had made there. I did see Rudy and gave him my leather briefcase that he had coveted and a load of unused per diems. Movie crews become like extended families; we work under such stress and heavy workloads that barriers come down and people bond really quickly. I loved Mexico. The people were so generous, filled with warmth and romance, and a true love of life.


I was told in the hospital in Santa Monica that the doctor in Guaymas had in fact cured me, and they confirmed I had had paratyphoid. After a week of recuperation I was discharged to the hotel. Les and I were told to meet John Barry the next day before he flew home. Driving up the coast to Malibu to meet him for lunch was a glorious drive.


I pulled into the parking lot at the end of the Malibu pier, and here stood the famous Alice’s Restaurant named after the Arlo Guthrie song and movie. Painted white with large blue letters saying Alice’s it stood out from the rest of the landmarks there. Built right at the end of the pier it was famous for its all-round views of the ocean, for its seafood and a special cocktail called a B52. It was a known hangout for the in-crowd of the day who would spend a lunch or dinner at the restaurant and then hang out on the beach watching the surfers. This was in the sixties and seventies, the era of the Beach Boys, and Malibu was the Mecca. We parked right next to the Spanish buildings at the roadside end of the pier that used to be a fishing-equipment shop and walked down the wooden planks of the pier to the restaurant. We entered through their famous stained-glass door.


We met John and talked a great deal about Lucky Lady and our experiences. We had not seen each other since John had left Guaymas for Mexico City with the first unit, so we had a lot of war stories to recount. Then John made the auspicious announcement: George Lucas had officially asked us to start work in London in August. I was confirmed as set decorator and John said that the budget would be really tight for this type of movie and we only had seven months to prep it, which was just doable if we got everything planned with George in the coming months. The robots and other planned scenes would take the most time. Just the three of us would be working on it at first, as Norman Reynolds had gone back to the UK onto another film.


John had planned that we were to spend the next weeks alone with George to work out the logistics of making the film. This was going to be a challenge. The present budget he had discussed with Gary and George and Fox meant that the sets and construction and dressing and art department costs were well under a million dollars. This would be incredibly tight for the envisioned world we had to create. John told us about the movie, George’s aspirations, and what the basic story and premise was. We knew George had liked our sets on Lucky Lady. He was determined to make Star Wars look as if we had filmed on old locations and create ships as if they existed and were used and real. This was my dream, the way I always wanted to see science-fiction movies made. We celebrated and John told me to rest up and be ready for work in August.


Les and I drove back down the coast and back to the hotel to arrange our own flights home. I was ecstatic—to have another movie with John Barry to go straight onto was obviously a good thing, but to have one that was in a genre that I loved and which were rarely made in Britain was a rare gift. For me that lunch in Alice’s Restaurant, now long vanished into local history, is engraved in my memory forever as a truly auspicious moment, a defining moment in my destiny. I was pulling my Excalibur out of the rock and envisaging Luke choosing his as he watched the twin suns of Tatooine…




STAR WARS


Back in the UK, John, Les, and I were called to Soho Square for a meeting with Peter Beale, the managing director of Twentieth Century Fox in the UK. Peter explained that the budget was really tight. He said that they would allocate around four million dollars to make the film with, so the entire art department budget was just under a million. The budget had come out at eight million dollars to make the movie in America, and Peter had persuaded them that we could make the same film in the UK for half that. So our job now was to prepare a budget for the art department and make it work. We left knowing we had a lot of work to do and a great deal of alternative thinking to make this possible. Time was also short as shooting was destined for March the following year.


Robert Watts was employed as the British line producer to pull the production together for Gary and George. An experienced and wonderfully calm man at the head of a seemingly impossible task, he ended up staying with the team as a producer through the first three movies. Robert and John Barry hired a few rooms for the art department and a small stage at Lee Studios in Kensal Rise, West London. This was a tiny studio owned by Lee Electrics, who were the largest cinema lighting and electrical hire company in the UK. I had worked there several times, including on Ken Russell’s movie Mahler, which I art-directed; we made all the sets and studio shooting there. Ken Russell liked the studios as they were just a mile from his house, and he also made some of The Who’s rock opera Tommy there. I made a commercial with David Lean’s DP Freddie Young, building a Kensington-style house and garden in the main studio that was famous for its central pillar, which we all had to design around. I turned it into an apple tree on that one.


I signed my letter of agreement for Star Wars for the princely sum of one hundred and fifty pounds a week. This was a lower salary than normal, but George Lucas was paying us from his own pocket, and I personally wanted his film to be made. It was a chance to be innovative, and I had ideas brewing in my mind about how to create a revolutionary look for the props and dressing. The money was irrelevant.


I was given a copy of the script to read and had to swear on my life that it was for my eyes only—it was so secret. It was titled Journal of the Whills by George Lucas. In fact very few people ever got a script—even the actors only got pages to read—but as set decorator I had to break down every scene and list out every prop and weapon required, and also work out all the dressings needed for each environment. I read the script through quickly to get a sense of the story and atmosphere first, before going back again to study it in detail. I liked it enormously. I immediately connected with it because it felt so familiar, reminding me of the great myths and legends I had grown up with, but set in a totally new way in space. It was full of action and drama and was essentially a Western in space with mythic heroes, good against bad, evil against the forces of light. The lightsabers stood out as an amazing invention and a natural evolution, bringing ancient sword-fighting heroes into a science-fiction setting.


George and Gary came over to work with us and go through aspects of the design and feel for the film. He confirmed that he wanted everything natural and real and made as if it were practical, just as he had outlined to me and John in Mexico. The dusty Western feel he had seen in the sets we had created in Guaymas was a reference point. He wanted nothing that would stand out as being specially made for a science-fiction film, no sets or props should ever be conspicuous as sets or objects designed to attract attention. Hallelujah! I smiled inside; this was music to my ears as this had always been my philosophy. I hated the older science-fiction films where everything looked ‘science fiction’.


George had a few paintings by the brilliant concept artist Ralph McQuarrie to show us. Ralph had painted characters and settings, which had been developed whilst George was working on the script. These became our reference point to rely on to create George’s vision. R2-D2 was there as a design and character, and C-3PO, a sophisticated droid who carried the story along with R2-D2 on many adventures. They were integral to the movie working, and we had to think of a way to make them real. Also in another painting were Luke and his landspeeder, and other details of the Death Star and characters. Ralph was the unsung hero behind George, creating paintings to illustrate Star Wars as George envisioned it. We talked about Silent Running and how Douglas Trumbull had built his robots around amputees, and of course we talked about Fritz Lang’s great German masterpiece Metropolis, unbelievably released in 1927 Klein-Rogge’s golden robot inspired our belief that a character could work as a robot if we developed R2-D2 around the right actor. With our small budget and time for preparation pretty tight at this stage, it was agreed that to make R2-D2 work, we would need to experiment with the possibility of building it around a very small person. We were all thinking on the same page.


George had asked Ralph McQuarrie to design C-3PO and R2-D2 to his exact specifications as he worked on the script. The actual inspiration for these two bickering characters came from one of my favorite Kurosawa movies, the wonderful Hidden Fortress. George liked the idea of the story being told by the two lowliest characters, and their bickering and arguing made the adventure funny in places and supplied the glue to connect the action and the drama.


Kurosawa has been a major influence on so many filmmakers; he was considered the master by most filmmakers before Star Wars came along. Now everyone I meet in the industry says it was Star Wars that changed their lives and made them pursue their goals of working in film. When I wrote and directed Black Angel, I was influenced by Kurosawa and the idea of the lone samurai. Ideas feed on ideas with artists, and reinterpretations create new and fresh art. C-3PO had one thing in common with the central robot in Metropolis: the costume had to fit tightly to an actor. However, we had to create our own iconic character. For us the two robots were the most complicated task in the short timeframe before shooting the following March. George had created interesting robot police for THX 1138, so we had his confidence in exploring these ideas. Fortunately for us he had seen the results work using the same techniques with a very low budget already.


Reading the script I recognized the deeply embedded homage to myth and the philosophy of the power of legend, where good triumphs over evil. I reread it several times and then set about doing the very accurate breakdowns I always made, listing everything in the script relating to my task as set decorator and anything I could think of that I needed for dressings. Robert Watts was there with John Barry preparing the budgets with Gary. We took George to Julie’s Restaurant in Portland Road on the first day he was there. This restaurant served as our canteen from then on, as he liked it so much. It was one of my favorite restaurants, just off Ladbroke Grove. The restaurant was laid out in individual rooms, each one with its own décor and style. The owner, Julie Hodgess, had found the building and decorated it with an eclectic mix of found bric-a-brac, objects, and furniture. Julie was one of the designers of the famed and legendary fashion house Biba on Kensington High Street. Julie’s had beautiful eclectic furnishings like an eastern restaurant. We sat this first day on a richly covered tapestry sofa with a low carved Moroccan coffee table in the middle to eat from, and deep velvet armchairs the other side to sink into. Moroccan lamps hung from the decorated ceilings. George appreciated the atmosphere; it was clearly an influence on our thinking in a way. Not sitting stiffly at a white cloth-covered table in a classical restaurant but in the rather more exotic and bohemian atmosphere the owner had created was certainly more in harmony with our discussions of the muted look of the movie. Julie’s has survived and is as trendy as ever, having played host since those early days to so many celebrities, actors, and rock stars, still proving a great place to hang out and relax. Little has changed it seems, from the photographs. I guess it should warrant a small blue plaque now for hosting such auspicious guests for so many months.


Every lunchtime we spoke in detail about the movie and used this time to focus our attention on getting the feel for it exactly right. These early discussions with George and Gary were imperative in getting the world he envisioned unified into our minds. George had spent a lot of time developing the universe, working with Ralph McQuarrie on illustrating the characters and costumes and the look. R2-D2 and C-3PO were the key to this universe and the first characters we see in Star Wars (along with Darth Vader). They were the Laurel and Hardy of the movie, whose humor and banter told the story for the audience to key into. Getting these characters right when there were limited special effects in those days was key to the movie being fully realized. So we had to make them work, and create their personalities through their visual appearance. Then there were the sets and the weapons and props. We spent hours and hours discussing it all, so that we were all playing the same violin as it were. Fortunately John Barry and I instinctively understood what George was after and that’s essential. I found to my own cost it is impossible to make someone understand, even with visual reference, if they do not get the genre and the rules and regulations one has to adhere to.


When we were creating the first of the trilogy of movies we were literally breaking new ground. We had nothing to fall back on, no prior visual references in any movies to create the worlds that Star Wars pioneered. It meant taking a huge leap of faith for George Lucas, John Barry, Les, and me. To find a visual language that we all understood, and all within the tiny budget allocated, seemed a daunting task in those early days.


John Barry stayed busy sketching out ideas for all the sets and trying to find ways with George to cut costs as Gary’s budget kept escalating above the eight million dollar mark. John Stears wasn’t working on the film at this stage but was doing budgets for Gary and Robert, and his special-effects budget kept ballooning way up. It was made clear to us that Twentieth Century Fox wouldn’t commit until the budget was locked and proven, and as George was paying us from his own pocket the pressure was very much focused on our small team.


Instinctively, I knew I could not set-dress this film conventionally. The budget was simply not there to do it that way, and also on my mind was how to achieve the gritty documentary look required for the interiors and exteriors of the ships and sets. We needed to make it as if we had just gone on location and found a spacecraft that was well used and worn for the Millennium Falcon, and had rented it for the filming. How to achieve what I had been extolling to George for this look was causing me a lot of angst. Fortunately, George had had the experience of making an experimental science-fiction movie with THX 1138. He had created a science-fiction world in real locations with a very limited budget, so he was instinctively able to understand what we had to achieve and what we were up against. This made our small team of five people, comprising John, Les, me, George, and Gary, feel like a small band of unified cinema revolutionaries.


I finished my breakdown of the script, which had taken a few days as it was highly extensive. I first grouped all the scenes in the same settings together. Then, to imagine what the interior or location scenes would look like, I talked with George and John Barry, and carefully studied the sketches of Ralph McQuarrie and John.


On a normal modern-day or period film my breakdown becomes a list of the furniture and dressings that will make the set real. This also includes anything specifically written into the scene, like the owner smashing up the room in anger, or cooks creating a meal in a kitchen, for example. We list out tables and chairs and curtains, carpets, and the main dressings. Then I list out any objects or props utilized in the script, and also anything else I think of that they might need. There may be an object in the next scene or later on in the film that has to be seen for the plot. There is a separate list for weapons, so all guns, knives, sticks—whatever is required—are listed. Animals are another category and vehicles yet another.


On a science-fiction movie there are no reference points to go to, as it is all in the imaginations of the writer and director. All we had to visualize at the start were the few paintings in which Ralph McQuarrie had so beautifully illustrated George’s imagination. There were really no reference points as most of the science-fiction movies that had been made were not as oily and real as George envisioned. I had to try to imagine what the interior of Obi-Wan Kenobi’s hideaway in the desert would be like, first described in this draft of the script as a much larger complex than the eventual budget cuts would reduce it down to. I had to imagine the contrasting interiors of the specially built Death Star to the used and battered Millennium Falcon, and the various exteriors and interiors on Tatooine. One set in particular stood out, the Cantina, and another got me wondering how to dress and make real the garbage compactor.


I stared at my comprehensive list of what was required and tried to estimate the budget to make it all. I had to find a solution to pull this off. When I looked at my list of weapons required as well, my heart sank. All the principals had guns, or lightsabers for the Jedi Knights, including Obi-Wan. The stormtrooper army alone amounted to nigh-on a hundred weapons. There were the Tusken Raiders and Chewbacca, and of course Darth Vader and his consorts. My budget would never allow for all this if we designed and built them all from scratch. Then there were robots—not just R2-D2 and C-3PO, but all the ones for sale by the Jawas and a load more for the interior of the Sandcrawler, which stood out, filled with junk robots and machinery. Then there were the vehicles like Luke’s landspeeder and others outside the Cantina, and various animals too. The Millennium Falcon was to be the most densely dressed of the ships judging by the descriptions from George, especially as it was old and banged up. The Death Star had a lot of built-in dressings as it was much cleaner and more 2001-like, but had areas to create within it like the garbage-disposal room and Darth Vader’s conference room.


Then there were all the desert scenes in Tatooine. I knew John was thinking of Morocco or Tunisia for the locations, as both have sand dunes and amazing architectural oddities from the past that are well preserved. I knew Morocco well, having been there many times. I was pondering things like Luke’s homestead with his aunt and uncle—as there were domestic scenes written in, like having a meal with blue milk, what would they be eating? There were various scenes around the Sandcrawler and the moisture-collection devices in the desert. The exterior of the Cantina was described as being in the locale of a small township with markets where they went to buy spares for the ship. There was a crashed spaceship described in the script right behind the Cantina entrance. That one gave me food for thought! All of this would require a lot of imagination to create.


I guess I was lucky in that my sensibility towards movies, especially science-fiction ones, was reality-based. I wanted to see environments that were lived in and real, so that I could finally connect to a science-fiction world I believed in, and felt that an audience would, too. George mentioned Westerns a lot, and I understood what he meant. Of course we all loved the Spaghetti Westerns made by Sergio Leone, films like A Fistful of Dollars, inspired by Yojimbo, another in the collection of masterpieces by Akira Kurosawa. We weren’t making a Western but there’s a feeling in the look that especially relates to the first Star Wars, much more so than in the other films in the Star Wars series.


Once Upon a Time in the West, Leone’s masterpiece, really set the tone. The atmosphere is gritty, real and dusty, and everything you see is used and practical. The newer buildings where they are building the town around the railroad seem real, not like a film set—this is the art. There was a propensity in science-fiction films before Star Wars to imagine the worlds as clean and spotless that made them somehow devoid of any character. Costumes were often gray and completely characterless, like Russian communism when anything of beauty was regarded as frivolous. It seemed to me that the Indian-style Nehru collar somehow denoted future apparel, as if everyone would be wearing gray, colorless versions of the Indian jacket. Humans simply aren’t like this. A ship might be new and shiny when sold, but it is soon dented and rusting and aged with use. Then they get sold and as they go down the market chain, economics means that people start repairing them themselves and fixing things and changing them. This is like Han and the Millennium Falcon.


George stated it quite simply. One sets a scene, but not in order to show off the architecture every time. That can happen when filmmakers are given the design of a science-fiction setting; they often feel they have to show the audience, just because it’s there and different, and so it introduces an unreality. I was lucky—I understood inherently George’s vision and had my personal references: Jean-Luc Godard’s Alphaville, to me the first graphic novel-style movie, and Tarkovsky’s Solaris. John Barry personally loved science-fiction films like Barbarella and Flash Gordon that have fun designs and show them off with full abandon. However, John was a brilliant designer and quickly understood what George was after. George’s vision was forming in our collective minds.


I was also a long-time fan of graphic novels and science-fiction artists. I spent a great deal of my time and hard-earned money in Forbidden Planet, the holy grail of shops for sci-fi fans. I spent so much time there researching artists like Frank Frazetta, Moebius, one of my favorite graphic-novel artists Bilal, Chris Foss, and Roger Dean, and I loved the paintings that seemed like real worlds. Forbidden Planet really helped me with my science-fiction education, preparing my path towards working on Star Wars and Alien.


George and Gary were flying back and forth to Los Angeles, still trying to get Twentieth Century Fox to commit, and to understand that the robots alone required an enormous amount of development time to create. Still reeling under the hugely over-budget Lucky Lady, Fox were being very reticent and difficult with Gary Kurtz over the film’s estimated cost. To make matters more difficult, John Stears’ special-effects budget continued escalating as time to prepare the film diminished. Gary was wrestling with the finished budget like a balloon full of water with holes in it, trying to block the holes with his fingers. Of course, as always, the art department budget was the main target for cuts. Fox decided that the seven and a half million-dollar budget that Gary had completed had to include their overheads, so he was forced to pull six hundred thousand dollars out of it. This was targeted at the construction and art department costs, including my dressing budget.


George and John Barry worked really hard to reduce the art department costs by amalgamating some scenes in different locations into one location, and combining scenes in different sets into one. Even Obi-Wan Kenobi’s hideaway went from a complex of different rooms down to a single cave, although in some ways this made him simpler and stronger. The Buddhist-influenced Force meant he was non-attached to material things and here budget restraints created a stronger dynamic for a central character. Sometimes restraints that push one into creative solutions can add to the film, not detract from it. This certainly influenced my thinking later on the dressing for Obi-Wan’s cave. When Twentieth Century Fox cut ten percent off the budget, settings, and locations like Alderaan went out the window, those scenes amalgamated by John and George into the Death Star. We were all doing what we could to reduce costs, but John Stears’ budget just kept going the other way, which alarmed Fox and Gary Kurtz. We had our own ideas about this, but John Stears was working in his workshops and quite separate from us at this stage until we started in Elstree. John Barry did attempt to intervene and constantly came up with suggestions. Part of the main problem of the budget’s escalation was the two main robots and the time to develop and make them. Robots are difficult to categorize, unlike furniture, say, which falls naturally under the art department. Robots are a combination of design, the art department and the special-effects team. John thought that John Stears was allowing more than enough to create fully functional radio-controlled robots, a costly procedure at this stage as they were entirely experimental. So we decided to work on our version of R2-D2.


John Barry and George decided the best way for our small team to proceed was to build mock-ups of R2-D2 and Luke’s landspeeder as time was so short. These would take the longest time to develop and were critical to the film, as R2-D2 and C-3PO are the first characters seen in the movie. We decided the best way to gauge the look and the scale of each one was to make rough wood and polystyrene mock-ups. John hired Liz Moore, who was one of the best sculptors working in the film industry, to sculpt clay models of C-3PO’s head to allow George to see the design in three dimensions.


R2-D2 was already a comprehensive design painted by Ralph McQuarrie. Looking at his height we needed to make R2-D2 as small as possible. For both R2-D2 and C-3PO the idea of a person inside working the robots seemed the only way to go, but we had to somehow reinvent the wheel and become way more sophisticated in our approach. With a huge budget and a long development time it might have been easier, but all we had was faith in our abilities as a team and to put our ideas into action, and pray they worked. The previous science-fiction robots in film were nothing like the problems we were presented with for R2-D2 and C-3PO in design or concept. R2-D2 and C-3PO were sophisticated and complex robots, each with a strong individual personality and character. They had to be convincing as main characters, and never ever betray that a human was underneath working them. C-3PO was an advanced humanoid-type robot and R2-D2 was a complex engineered astromech droid, who could do many things needed in the script.


Robert Watts set about finding a suitable small person who we could build a mock-up around to see if we could do what we were thinking. He also began the search for a suitable-sized actor who could be inside C-3PO.


I began working on R2-D2 with Les. To get things moving and to build a very rough mock-up in wood we needed a skilled carpenter and prop maker, someone who could join the team and work without complaining about lack of funding or materials. Someone who could create something from nothing, and at the same time construct a simple mock-up of the landspeeder, as we couldn’t determine what size would work from the paintings. Someone like Bill Harman.


Bill was the construction head who had created the Everest commercial for me and other sets for commercials where he pulled rabbits out of the hat every time. We always had limited budgets but Bill was brilliant at solving problems. He worked on several of the early Monty Python films as a kind of do-it-all construction head, and had last worked on Monty Python and the Holy Grail with them and for Terry Gilliam on Jabberwocky. He made many zany props for Gilliam, all with little money or materials, but always came through. With Bill you can throw him an impossible task and he’ll find a way to make it happen, and laugh all the way. A far more productive approach than the usual negative grumbling that often occurs, and which simply translates to ‘more money please and I’ll fix it’.


I suggested we hire him, and when Bill came in to meet John Barry, his obvious experience and willingness to get stuck in on his own, combined with his chirpy personality and humorous approach to life, got him the job. Bill’s first task was to make up around a dozen or so wire stands for Liz Moore to sculpt C-3PO’s heads in clay, and to start to experiment with the look for Darth Vader’s helmet. With these stands built in the small stage at Lee Studios, Liz started sculpting about ten different designs for C-3PO’s head to enable George to see how he would look, and also to envision how we could build him around an actor.


We knew for certain that R2-D2 would have to be operated by a small person, but finding the right one was not proving easy. Robert Watts was arranging casting sessions for George to meet any candidates he could find. Les and I went through the requirements with Bill to construct the first wood mock-up of R2-D2 and Bill set about making the prototype. He worked based on the McQuarrie painting, a very rough sketch by George and Bill on Monty Python-headed notepaper, and George’s descriptions and rough height measured out by hand against a normal person. He made a plywood cylinder around a frame of ash using seven-eights-thick marine plywood that he had left over at home from an earlier job and kindly donated to us. It was used to skin boats and planes, so it easily bent to shape. The diameter of the body was only two foot six on this one so very small, but it looked too large compared to the painting, so we had to go smaller.


George went down to the stage we had rented to look at Liz’s heads one morning, and started talking to Bill as he was fascinated by how the Python movies were made so cheaply yet looked so grand. He asked Bill a lot of questions about them and Bill explained that all he often got from Terry Gilliam were rough sketches done on the spot. George was fascinated and asked to see some. The next day Bill brought in sketches of props and sets to show him, from both Monty Python and the Holy Grail and Jabberwocky. They were roughly drawn on the back of call sheets by Gilliam, but were very descriptive. Bill described to George how everything was made with absolutely no money, and I think it helped to convince George that our way of making mock-ups and developing things would work. The production values on the Python movies were very high compared to their small budgets, and the sets looked very authentic. Bill still has the coconut shells used when the Pythons realized they couldn’t afford horses on Monty Python and the Holy Grail.


Looking at Bill’s first attempt, the rough wood mock-up of R2-D2, we decided it had to be made smaller. The cylinder was a guide to how it looked in practical terms, and was definitely going to be too big. Bill had roughed in legs and even without the head it looked too clumsy. The problem was still there, and now even more acute: who could we find this small to work it from inside? We pressured Robert to find the smallest person we could as quickly as possible—we really needed to build the next mock-up around that person.


Bill was a massive help. He’d scrounge around at home and in local junkyards to find materials for us to make the mock-up landspeeder and R2-D2, as Robert made it clear he had no budget at this stage to give him. This does require a certain adaptability; many people cannot understand or work that way. Bill had always thought differently to the conventional art department ways, and working on the Monty Python films had really honed this adaptability, requiring props and gags and sets that would have stumped conventional methods. Bill was an ace at this and kept us all laughing with his anecdotes and jokes.


We all bonded quickly, and in the evenings at the end of the workday, George would sometimes bring a 16mm movie to watch. Bill Harman used to go and get a few beers and sandwiches from the pub opposite called the Lads of the Village, and Cokes for Gary and George, who never ever touched alcohol. So we watched films together, basically to try to get ideas for making the look and atmosphere for Star Wars work. Everything was geared around finding ideas for producing it. Watching Forbidden Planet again, this movie was pretty advanced considering the clean and cheesy science-fiction movies that were made at the time (the 1950s). The important thing was that the robot was a central character in the movie and it worked.


I thought back to the Daleks in the early episodes of Doctor Who, obviously operated by smaller people hidden inside them as they rolled around the studio floor on casters. They had really frightened me as a child. It’s funny now, looking back. They had what resembled (and most likely was, due to budget constraints) a sink plunger stuck on them for their front probe, but they still scared many children. Illusion—it’s all down to a believable character and drama and then audiences accept the world as real. Now, of course, things had become far more sophisticated, and Star Wars would be the film to push the envelope way, way further than ever before—we just had to make it happen.


George had us look at Douglas Trumbull’s robots in Silent Running, Huey, Dewey, and Louie, not for their look (they were very simple affairs that looked like plastic bins dressed with different shapes), but because they were convincing characters. I think their interactions with Bruce Dern, often with a slight humorous edge, allowed the viewer not to question that they were actually just plastic bins dressed up. The legs were simple, designed around the arms of the amputees using plain convoluted plastic tubing to enable them to walk or waddle, and box feet to look like robot shoes. It meant they could move around and the waddle gave them a sympathetic kind of personality. They worked because they became personalities in the movie and one forgave their simplicity. Also Trumbull filmed much of the movie in an old mothballed battleship, which in my opinion gave a credible and authentic atmosphere in general, and helped the viewer believe in the story and the robots’ existence.


Could we create the same illusion?


Robert Watts found a cabaret group called The Mini Tones comprising of Kenny Baker and Jack Purvis, and had gone to see them perform. They seemed like they could be potential R2-D2s, so Kenny and Jack and the other small actors went to audition for George at Fox House in Soho Square. George Lucas took one look at Kenny and said, “You are R2-D2.” Kenny was by far the smallest person there, and he was correctly proportioned. He came to Lee Studios to meet us, and Les and I had Bill measure him up; he fitted our requirements exactly, being only three feet eight inches high. Kenny also had legs strong enough to make the walking steps that R2-D2 would be required to have. He was very funny—The Mini Tones were a comedy musical act—and we felt his personality would hold up under the difficult conditions we would place him under during filming. We showed him the paintings and talked him through what he would be required to do, and how important R2-D2 was to the movie. He met up with George and John Barry and seemed really excited to come work with us. Kenny was now crucial to making R2-D2, as he was the only person small enough and strong enough that we could find.


The only problem that arose was that Kenny had entered The Mini Tones into Hughie Green’s hugely popular TV show, Opportunity Knocks. This was a television show in the UK where talent competed to get noticed and win. It was the forerunner to The X Factor and Britain’s Got Talent, and just as popular in its day.


Then came a blow to our plans. The Mini Tones reached the final on Opportunity Knocks, and if they won it would elevate their career. Kenny was now concerned about his partner, Jack Purvis, as working with us meant putting The Mini Tones on hold for a while, leaving Jack with no income. Robert Watts and George promised him that Jack would also be hired for the movie, as there were various other roles to be filled that needed someone of his size. After deliberating, and despite this guarantee of Jack working on the film, Kenny turned us down and told us he couldn’t do it.


John Barry was really concerned about losing him, so he made Les go to Kenny’s house with instructions to persuade him and not to leave until he had. Les lived in the area and drove straight to his home. He found the house all right, but couldn’t find the doorknobs or the doorknocker. He looked around, totally confused, not knowing how to let Kenny know he was there. He couldn’t find a bell, nothing. Then, glancing down, he realized that they were all placed two feet off the ground, carefully positioned so Kenny and his equally small wife could reach them. Les bent down and knocked and was finally met at the door by Kenny.


After a few hours of persuasion by Les, Kenny finally agreed to work with us. He saw the potential if we could pull R2-D2 off as a major character, and took a gamble. He had always wanted to work in movies. He’d had a long career in show business before this but had never been offered a leading role in a film, and he realized this was a huge opportunity for him and Jack. Trusting Les that we would employ Jack clinched the deal. As it turns out, a wise decision Kenny made…


I got Kenny in for a fitting when I was directing Second Unit on The Phantom Menace. Kenny duly arrived and before doing anything he asked me to come outside and see something. There was Kenny’s electric-blue Rolls-Royce Corniche, a beautiful Mulliner Park Ward Coupe especially adapted for him to drive. He proudly drove me all around Leavesden Studios. There were miles of road and a long airplane runway; it used to be a Rolls-Royce airplane engine factory. Kenny told me that making appearances at science-fiction events all over the world had bought the ‘roller’, so it hadn’t been a bad decision to come play the little robot.


In Lee Studios, Bill Harman began creating another smaller body frame based around Kenny’s measurements. We were able to gauge the proportions and size based on Kenny’s height, and by relating these to Ralph’s drawings where R2-D2 was shown next to Luke and C-3PO. Bill clad the body using more of the marine plywood bent around the frame.


Having constructed a body, we needed a dome-shaped head. This stymied Bill as it was a convex round shape, and a spherical top was way too costly to make. When I art-directed Ken Russell’s film Mahler in the same studios and built all the sets there, I had gotten to know it really well. The Lee brothers, who owned the studios, housed all their lamps and electrical equipment in stores out back. I had an intuition I’d find something, and went on a hunt around. In the dump section where they chucked unwanted or broken equipment I uncovered a 1940s P5.2 rifled reflector lamp that had been thrown out.


These were older 1000-watt lamps used to give a deep light on movie sets, and were pretty large. The shape of the lamp housing that held the reflector at the back caught my eye. It looked about the right size and shape to mock up a head for R2-D2. I got Bill over to take a look, and getting out his trusty tape measure, he deemed it perfect with a bit of modification. I left Bill to negotiate a price with the studio manager, Dennis, as I knew, being the set decorator on an American sci-fi picture, the price would be elevated if I tried. Bill negotiated to buy it for ten shillings, or about a dollar in today’s money, and we set about making it fit. Bill laughs about it to this day, he still claims he never got his ten shillings back from Robert Watts!


Bill stripped off the metal brackets on the housing to give us a smooth head-shaped dome, and set about making it fit on the wooden cylinder. We were lucky: it was the perfect size.


Cutting away some of the brackets so that it fitted onto the wooden body, we had a robot shape that resembled the painting. Next we needed to mock up legs to match Ralph’s illustration. Les still didn’t have enough information to make draughtsman’s drawings at this stage, so he and John just sketched out ideas for Bill on scrap paper, which Bill kept. George was always involved when he was with us on his trips back from America, making suggestions and following our experimental ways. Bill carefully crafted a mock-up of the legs as they were in the drawing. We made two large cylindrical body pieces where we knew we had to disguise Kenny’s legs between the body and the feet. His legs went through the body at an angle and into the bottom part of R2-D2’s legs so he could move them—or that was the idea anyway. The legs themselves were bolted with a nut and bolt onto the body at the top, so they could swing backwards and forwards to simulate walking.


We called Kenny back in. He was smaller than our mock-up with the top on when we stood him by it, so with some alterations to the interior structure work we got him inside. Adjusting the wooden frame, we tried Kenny in it for the first time and Bill went to lift Kenny up. He placed his arms round Kenny’s chest, but I could see by the bemused look on Kenny’s face that something was up. Bill tried to lift Kenny and couldn’t get him off the ground, he just went red in the face; all we got was a “Cor blimey, you’re heavy.” Kenny, laughing his head off, said, “Strong bones…” We helped Bill lift him into the robot. After a lot of shuffling and complaining as bits of timber and metal bolts were digging into him, we made him fit, albeit very tightly. Kenny’s face looked up at us, as he kind of sat and crouched into the robot. We had to cut holes and jiggle around the frame to get his legs through the cylinder and into the holes where the legs would be, so Kenny would eventually be able to make R2-D2 walk. It was a bit of a struggle but Kenny’s legs and the proportions of his body made him a unique fit, exactly what we required for R2-D2. It looked like it was going to work! Kenny kept complaining that the bolts and wood were biting into his legs, so someone rushed off and found some foam rubber and we packed this in all around him. That alleviated his complaints, temporarily…


Now that R2-D2 was under way and we had a basis to build on, I needed to get some prop pieces to add into him to start mocking up the details we would build onto his frame. He had his central eye and various compartments, and in the drawing were little gadgets all over him, and different vents and arms and robot-type ‘greeblies’. ‘Greeblies’ was the name George came up with one day speaking with me and John Barry. “Stick some greeblies on him”. We liked the name, it was so appropriate for what I was doing and as there was no name for this as it was a new invention I had come up with. We christened anything that we stuck onto found objects as greeblies from then on to give them the Star Wars natural look, and this is what they came to be known as amongst the art department for the entire movie. Often the call came to me during filming, “Can you bring some greeblies down to the shooting stage and dress into a prop on camera to make it look more authentically functional?”


Poor little R2-D2 looked rather bland in his plywood skin, and Bill Harman had the idea to spray him silver. I rushed down in a panic when I heard the silver paint was out. Bill looked at my panicked face as I told him, “Never, ever paint anything silver, John will go mad!” I also hated that look. John Barry and I had a pact: no silver paint would ever be seen on screen. It reminded me of TV science-fiction films where the answer to anything to make it look more ‘spacey’ was to spray it silver. Even worse were the silver material space suits. So Bill, being suitably admonished, threw away all the silver spray cans in the workshop.


Peter Dunlop, my art-department production buyer who would eventually come on board full time, drove me to Trading Post. This was the hire company and film-rental facility where you could get all manner of mechanical, scientific and electrical materials, anything from tin mugs and army equipment to radio-station dressings. A wonderland for me as it had things you could never find in the usual prop houses, which specialized in antiques or modern furniture, beautiful objets d’art, fabrics and art. Anything to dress a period film from most eras one could find between the rental houses, but nothing to dress a spaceship, or a Cantina or a Death Star! I spent hours digging around in dusty cardboard boxes and trays of old second-hand mechanical and electrical goodies. Suddenly I came upon a box of 1950s airplane air nozzles and reading lamps. These were the little units placed above each passenger’s head; you could swivel them to control the force of a jet of air by turning the wheel-type knob to control the flow from nothing to full blast, and turn on the light and focus it on your book or magazine. Painted in institutional green, there were a dozen in the box that originally came from an old Vickers Viscount turboprop used in the 1950s. I also found a variety of flexible steel pipes and small metal piston-like objects. In another box I found some rectangular grilles, like small air-vent coverings, very similar to Ralph McQuarrie’s painting. Looking around I could see the wealth of dressing that could be built into something if I could find a larger source of it.


I drove back with my first treasure trove of old bits of scrap, an auspicious beginning to a journey that was to consume me over the next few months, and like planting an acorn, the germ of an idea of using scrap and junk was developing in my mind as a solution to getting the look I envisaged for Star Wars.


Back at Lee Studios I had Bill set about placing some of these onto the robot to give him a personality, and to see how we could begin to make him look like a working, functioning robot, again based on Ralph’s painting. The airplane reading lamp was perfect and I set one of them into his head, next to his central seeing eye. We placed a couple more around the back. This little greeblie I added, the first one to go onto the little mock-up robot, has remained as a part of R2-D2’s character ever since. It was cast and remade when we starting producing the metal working R2-D2s later in pre-production. I found a junk plastic disc that we inserted to give an idea of his eye. I placed the grilles and other tubes and pistons, emulating Ralph’s drawings, to get a feel of what we could do. Each of these additions began to give the little robot a kind of mechanical authenticity. I was fortunate in having experienced this kind of dressing before and I think I inherited an engineering and mechanical leaning from my father, because I understood how technologies worked. This is essential for this type of dressing to have a reality to it. Sticking bits of junk in any random way does not look real; it has to have a very controlled method to it as one is trying to create the illusion of something technical operating under the skin, whether in a robot or a set. John Barry had this creative understanding as well, and George too, so without having to resort to hours of dialogue and explanations we had a shorthand in communication, and this made working like this so easy.


With mock-up legs, a body, and a head we had our first R2-D2 to show to George.


George and Gary came down to inspect our wooden robot. Though primitive indeed, one could use one’s imagination and see R2-D2. It was pretty exciting for all of us, as this was the first visible piece of hardware ever made for Star Wars. George deemed it would work and the scale was now exactly right. Now we had to see if we could make him walk or waddle with Kenny inside!


Chatting about R2-D2’s functions, George said that he envisaged a scene where R2-D2 was in peril and having to hang onto a pole or pipe for dear life. There were two shapes on his front under the head in the McQuarrie painting that could be interpreted as arms folded in, or utensils. George said it was kind of like a spoon and fork that he could unfold and hang onto the pipe with. George used the words as a way of explaining something that was unexplainable. Conventionally if I was following how to do things, I would have noted it down as the director had instructed it and gone away and created a spoon and fork. This is important to mention, as it was the beginning of a way of communicating between us, without needing to go to lengthy explanations. This was how a level of trust was established early on, and making R2-D2 as a wood mock-up began the process—I instinctively knew what he meant. I knew I could not find anything suitable as junk, so I talked it over with Bill Harman. He drew out the two slots in the main body to the shape required, and cut out one of them so that the arm could be made to fit into it. I got him to cut me a piece of curved wood that would fit across his front into the slot. I took this home with me, along with a carving knife, and spent the evening carving out a little arm that would look exactly like what I felt George envisioned. Next morning we fitted it into place and left it so it could open up to show George. These shaped arms have stayed exactly as I carved them in the final design and are still part of R2-D2’s anatomy. Making this at home in my spare moments was normal for me. It was fun, and brought back memories of my first position on Oliver! when I made Fagin’s box by hand.
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